No. 20-0169

KEVIN GOODMAN, JR.,

V.

Petitioner Below, Petitioner

JUN 1 2 2020

EDVIHE NASH CIAISER CLERK
SUPREME COURT OF APPLIALS
OF WEST VIRICINIA

TOM HARLAN, Interim Superintendent, Huttonsville Correctional Center,

Respondent Below, Respondent.



Appeal from the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

J. Timothy DiPiero (W.Va. I.D. No. 1021)
Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406)
Luca D. DiPiero (W.Va. I.D. No. 13756)

DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631
Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133
tim.dipiero@dbdlawfirm.com
lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com
luca.dipiero@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Petitioner Kevin Goodman, Jr.

A.	Procedural history				
	В.	Statement of the facts developed at trial				

	1.	State's theory of the case	
	2.	Armed robbery committed in an Oak Hill house	
	3.	Testimony provided by Mr. Gunn, Mr. Wicker, and Kentrell 8	
	4.	Forensic evidence from the State	
	5.	Petitioner testifies and denies any involvement in this crime	
	6.	Evidence developed in habeas corpus hearing	
IV.	Summary	of argument	
V.	Statement	regarding oral argument and decision	
VI.	Argument		
	co she wh wi of ex	titioner was denied effective assistance of counsel when his trial unsel failed to introduce into evidence the exculpatory video owing that Petitioner was not in the vehicle used in the crime, nich video corroborated the testimony of Petitioner and his alibitaness and contradicted the State's main witnesses, and failed to fer cautionary instructions, which are mandatory upon request, plaining how to consider the testimony of alleged accomplices, th of whom had entered guilty pleas	
	pre ide co	titioner's constitutional rights were violated when the State esented false testimony from a witness, who lied at trial and entified Petitioner as one of the perpetrators, told the jury that it uld believe this perjured testimony, and failed to take appropriate tion to correct the admission of this perjured testimony	
VII.	Conclusio	n	

Table of Authorities

West Virginia cases:

Ballard v. Ferguson, 232 W.Va. 196, 751 S.E.2d 716 (2013)
Scott v. Mohn, 165 W.Va. 393, 268 S.E.2d 117 (1980)
State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 W.Va. 314, 465 S.E.2d 416 (1995)
State ex rel. Franklin v. McBride, 226 W.Va. 375, 701 S.E.2d 97 (2009)
State ex rel. Myers v. Painter 213 W.Va. 32, 576 S.E.2d 277 (2002)
State v. Bolling, 162 W.Va. 103, 246 S.E.2d 631 (1978)
State v. Caudill, 170 W.Va. 74, 289 S.E.2d 748 (1982)
State v. Flack 232 W.Va. 708, 753 S.E.2d 761 (2013)
State v. Gibbs, 238 W.Va. 646, 797 S.E.2d 623 (2017)
State v. Hill, W.Va, S.E.2d, 2016 WL 6678997 (No. 16-0138, 11/14/16) 5
State v. Humphrey, 128 W.Va. 370, 36 S.E.2d 469 (1945)
State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995)

Other jurisdiction cases:

Brady v. Maryland,
373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)
People v. Canales,
110 A.D.3d 731 (N.Y. App. Div. 2013)
Strickland v. Washington,
466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)
Miscellaneous:
Cynthia Najdowski & Margaret Stevenson, Criminal Juries in the 21st Century: Psychological
Science and the Law: American Psychology-Law Society Series, Oxford University Press (2018),
$https://books.google.com/books/about/Criminal_Juries_in_the_21st_Century.html?id=YB5pDw$
AAQBAJ
Kimberly Schweitzer and Narina Nuñez, What Evidence Matters to Jurors? The Prevalence and
Importance of Different Homicide Trial Evidence to Mock Jurors, PSYCHIATRY, PSYCHOLOGY
AND LAW, Vol. 25, No. 3, 432-451 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2018.1437666 . 27

BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

No. 20-0169

KEVIN GOODMAN, JR.,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner

V

TOM HARLAN, Interim Superintendent, Huttonsville Correctional Center,

Respondent Below, Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

EXCULPATORY VIDEO, NOT OFFERED INTO EVIDENCE, SHOWING NO PERSON BEHIND THE DRIVER, WHERE PETITIONER SUPPOSEDLY WAS SEATED:

"It's clear someone is sitting behind the passenger seat and it's clear that nobody's sitting behind the driver seat.... This [video] is extremely valuable." (Defense counsel Brandon Steele, JA at 1135). EXCULPATORY

"The State contends that it could fairly be argued that there is probably only one person in the back seat of the vehicle in question." (Assistant Prosecuting Attorney Jeffery T. Mauzy, JA at 1099-1100). EXCULPATORY

"[W]hile the Petitioner asserts the video affirmatively shows that he did not participate in the crime he was convicted of and directly contradicts the trial testimony of Rashod Wicker and Kentrell Goodman, the Court FINDS that the Petitioner places far more weight and exculpatory value on the video tape than it actually warrants." (Judge Paul M. Blake, Jr., JA at 1241). NOT EXCULPATORY ENOUGH

I. Introduction

To the Honorable Justices of the

West Virginia Supreme Court:

In this case, defense counsel conceded that his failure to offer the above-referenced video into evidence at trial denied Petitioner Kevin Goodman, Jr., effective assistance of counsel because the video supported Petitioner's testimony that he was innocent, corroborated Petitioner's alibi witness, and counsel could have used the video effectively to impeach the State's critical witnesses. Under the State's theory, Petitioner, who is six feet four inches tall, allegedly was in the car behind the driver, with two other men seated beside him. (JA at 1205). Even the assistant prosecutor in answering the amended habeas corpus petition acknowledged the exculpatory value of the video. The judge concluded the video was not exculpatory enough to justify a new trial and denied all habeas corpus relief. As a result, Petitioner remains incarcerated serving a fifty year sentence for first degree robbery, one to five years for conspiracy to commit first degree robbery, and one to ten years for entry of a dwelling, all sentences running consecutively.

In light of the different conclusions reached by these three officials involved in the trial, this case raises the question, "Shouldn't this Court set aside Petitioner's convictions and remand for a new trial so that a jury, which never saw this video in the first trial, can reach its own conclusions about the exculpatory value of this evidence?"

Generally speaking, a video showing that the accused was not present when a crime was committed is very compelling exculpatory evidence that should have been presented to the jury. Unfortunately, the jury in the underlying criminal case did not have the opportunity to view the West

Virginia Turnpike tollbooth video of the Acura¹ used in the crime as it stopped to pay the tolls while it traveled north and then south on the day in question. In reviewing the record, counsel noticed a brief reference to the existence of tollbooth recordings by the officer testifying before the grand jury.² (JA at 83). The State provided a copy of the CD with the relevant tollbooth video.³ The CD included multiple recordings from different angles, capturing the Acura as it headed north to Oak Hill, West Virginia, where the crime was committed, and then back to South Carolina. From the first time habeas counsel for Petitioner viewed all of the videos, it was clear one particular video showed no person was seated behind the driver, which contradicted the State's main witness and was consistent with Petitioner's trial testimony that he never left South Carolina, had no involvement in this crime, and was innocent.

After Petitioner filed his amended habeas corpus petition, a hearing was held on August 27, 2019, in which Petitioner's trial counsel testified. Following the submission of proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Honorable Judge Paul M. Blake, Jr., issued an order on February

¹This Acura was owned by Lindsay Hess, Kentrell Goodman's girlfriend. (JA at 336).

²Although the video would have corroborated some of the State's evidence by showing the Acura was in West Virginia on the date and time in question and also clearly showed the car was driven by Rashod Wicker, for reasons not apparent in the record, the State did not offer this video as evidence at trial.

³Multiple copies of the CD have been included in the record so that each member of the Court can view the video. On January 9, 2015, the subject Acura was filmed on tollbooth cameras on four distinct occasions--twice traveling northbound at approximately at 5:52 a.m. and 6:14 a.m., and twice traveling southbound at approximately at 9:16 a.m. and 9:40 a.m. Petitioner respectfully submits that all of the videos are informative and should be reviewed, but the clearest recording showing no person is seated behind the driver can be found in the video labelled "Lane 7-8 North 2015-01-09 09 15 00 000" and the Acura appears from 9:16:58 to 9:17:07 a.m.

13, 2020, denying all habeas corpus relief. This appeal seeks to correct this injustice by reversing this final order and remanding this case for a new trial, where the jury will be able to consider all of the relevant evidence.

II. Assignments of error

A.

Whether the trial court erred in concluding Petitioner was not denied effective assistance of counsel, in violation of his constitutional rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article III, Sections 1, 5, 10, and 14 of the West Virginia Constitution, where:

- Trial counsel failed to present into evidence the exculpatory tollbooth video showing Petitioner was not seated behind the driver, which evidence corroborated his trial testimony that he was innocent, supported his alibi witness, and which would have been effective in impeaching and crossexamining the State's main witnesses; and
- 2. Trial counsel failed to offer cautionary instructions, which were mandatory upon request, explaining how to consider the testimony of alleged accomplices, both of whom had entered guilty pleas?

B.

Whether the trial court erred in holding that Petitioner's constitutional rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article III, Sections 1, 5, 10, and 14 of the West Virginia Constitution were not violated when the State presented false testimony from a witness, who lied at trial and identified Petitioner as one of the perpetrators, told the jury that it could believe this perjured testimony, and the State failed to take appropriate action to correct the admission of this perjured testimony?

III. Statement of the case

A. Procedural history

On March 9, 2017, this Court issued a decision in a case styled *State v. Gibbs*, 238 W.Va. 646, 797 S.E.2d 623 (2017), affirming the convictions of co-defendant Antwyn Gibbs and Petitioner.⁴ On or about July 5, 2017, Petitioner filed an initial *pro se* habeas corpus petition, which was dismissed without appointing counsel. On or about December 5, 2017, Petitioner filed a second *pro se* habeas corpus petition. The trial court appointed counsel to represent Petitioner in this proceeding and present counsel were appointed on or about June 26, 2018, to replace the original counsel. Because the issues raised in this appeal must be evaluated in the context of the record developed in the underlying criminal trial as well as the habeas corpus hearing, a detailed statement of facts is required.

B. Statement of the facts developed at trial

1. State's theory of the case

The State's theory in this case was that in the early morning of January 9, 2015, Petitioner, his brother Kentrell Goodman,⁵ Defendant Antwyn Gibbs, Defendant Radee Hill, and Rashod Wicker traveled from South Carolina to Oak Hill, West Virginia, where an armed robbery was committed in a house owned by Linda and Elwood Charles Knight.⁶ According to the State's theory,

⁴This Court affirmed the convictions against the third co-defendant Radee Hill in State v. Hill, W.Va., S.E.2d , 2016 WL 6678997 (No. 16-0138, 11/14/16).

⁵To avoid any confusion between Petitioner, his brother Kentrell Goodman, and his father Kevin Goodman, Sr., Petitioner's brother will be referred to as Kentrell and his father as Kevin, Sr.

⁶During the hearing and attached to Petitioner's proposed order were printouts of the public information provided by the West Virginia Division of Corrections on the height of the five men allegedly packed in this one car. According to this documentation, Petitioner is six feet four inches

the genesis for this crime occurred when Kentrell learned that his friend Andrew Gunn, a drug dealer who was residing in the Knight house, kept a safe with some of his drug money. The State contended that this group, after arriving in Oak Hill, managed to steal Mr. Gunn's safe, which contained about \$10,000, as well as a pair of Mr. Gunn's tennis shoes and a crossbow. Soon after these items were taken, this group immediately traveled back to South Carolina. This group traveled north and then south on the West Virginia Turnpike. In an effort to minimize their own involvement in this crime, Kentrell and Mr. Wicker entered into plea agreements and testified in the joint criminal trial involving Petitioner, Defendant Gibbs, and Defendant Hill.⁷

2. Armed robbery committed in an Oak Hill house

In the pretrial discovery, Petitioner was never identified by any of these robbery victims as being one of the perpetrators. In January, 2015, Linda Knight lived in a house in Oak Hill, West Virginia, with her husband, Elwood Charles Knight, her five-year-old granddaughter Da-maya, and her nineteen-year-old grandson Alexandro. (JA at 219-20). Also living in the house at that time was Andrew Gunn, her grandson, who had been living there on home confinement for about six months. (JA at 220-21; 293). In the morning of January 9, 2015, two men came into her house through the front door, one with a shotgun or rifle and the other one with a handgun. (JA at 225, 228). From what she could see, the two men appeared to be black. (JA at 230). Andrew Gunn then came into the livingroom and sat in a chair. (JA at 231). Then two more men, whose faces were covered by their jackets, came into the house and headed directly to Mr. Gunn's bedroom. (JA at 231-33).

tall, Rashod Wicker is five feet nine inches tall, Kentrell Goodman is six feet one inch tall, Radee Hill is five feet nine inches tall, and Antwyn Gibbs is five feet eleven inches tall. (JA at 1205-09).

⁷Kentrell and Mr. Wicker pleaded guilty to first degree robbery. (JA at 615, 734).

There was a safe in this bedroom, which was missing after these intruders left the house. (JA at 235-36). She also noticed a new pair of tennis shoes was missing along with a crossbow. (JA at 236). In the trial, she was able to identify the safe, the tennis shoes, and the cross bow. (JA at 236-38). The intruders were in the house for about fifteen minutes. The first two left through the front porch while the second two must have left out of Mr. Gunn's bedroom window. (JA at 239). Mr. Gunn was friends with Kentrell and Kentrell even stayed at this house at some earlier time. (JA at 240). When the intruders left, she called the police. (JA at 242).

At trial, Ms. Knight appeared to identify Mr. Gibbs, when she was unable to do so prior to trial, but was unable to identify Petitioner or Mr. Hill. (JA at 243). Although prior to trial Ms. Knight explained she was unable to identify any of the intruders, during the trial, she claims Mr. Gibbs is the person who pointed the long shotgun at her face and she identifies him in court. (JA at 251). The safe belonged to Mr. Gunn. (JA at 245). According to Ms. Knight, all four intruders were about five foot five or six inches tall, but she stated it was kind of hard to judge their height. (JA at 247). Petitioner is listed by the West Virginia Division of Corrections as being six feet four inches tall. Edward Knight, who is married to Linda Knight, was present in the home during the armed robbery, but he was not able to identify any of the intruders nor was he able to describe their heights. (JA at 256-57, 263).

Lindsay Hess, Kentrell's girlfriend, was living with Aunt Benita in her house in Newberry, South Carolina. Kentrell also lived there at that time, as well as a friend named Tamika and Mr. Wicker. (JA at 328-30, 331). Petitioner visited the house every other day. (JA at 330). Ms. Hess claims she overheard Petitioner and Kentrell discuss robbing Mr. Gunn. (JA at 332-33).

On January 9, 2015, Ms. Hess discovered her Acura was missing when she woke up and also noticed Kentrell was not there. (JA at 335). After receiving a text from Petitioner's girlfriend asking where he was, Ms. Hess learned from Tamika that Petitioner supposedly was in West Virginia. (JA at 336). The text from Petitioner's girlfriend was received on January 9, 2015, at 12:58 a.m. (JA at 338). Ms. Hess responded to the text at 1:04 a.m. (JA at 339). Around noon, Ms. Hess saw her car in the parking lot, along with Kentrell, Petitioner, and Mr. Wicker. (JA at 340-41). About a day later, Petitioner bought a car seat for Kentrell. (JA at 343). A television and a game system also was purchased a few days later. (JA at 344).

3. Testimony provided by Mr. Gunn, Mr. Wicker, and Kentrell

As is often the case, the State relied upon the testimony of criminal defendants, who cut deals in an effort to lessen their own criminal exposure. Thus, the most critical evidence supporting the State's theory came from Mr. Wicker and Kentrell.

The testimony of Mr. Gunn, who in this case allegedly was a victim, presented some credibility issues for the State, which felt compelled to take the unusual step during its closing argument of specifically asking the jury to disregard Mr. Gunn's testimony that he had identified Petitioner as one of the individuals involved in this crime. Specifically, Mr. Gunn testified, "I saw them (indicating)—Kevin and some other boy come in the house." (JA at 298). On January 9, 2015, Mr. Gunn was getting ready to report to the Day Report Center due to his own criminal convictions when masked intruders came into the Knight house in Oak Hill. (JA at 294). At trial, Mr. Gunn identified a crossbow and tennis shoes gathered by law enforcement as belonging to him. (JA at 295-96). Mr. Gunn explained his safe, which he also identified, contained about \$10,000 in cash from his marijuana sales and he also confirmed that Kentrell knew about money in his safe. (JA at 302). All four of the intruders were hoodies and three of them were masks. (JA at 303).

Despite his surprise identification of Petitioner at trial, which identification was rejected in an ambiguous manner by the State in its closing, Mr. Gunn acknowledged giving a statement to the police after the intruders had left. In this statement, Mr. Gunn did not identify Petitioner as one of the intruders, but instead said he recognized someone who looked similar to a person named Robert Lee. (JA at 312). In the entire time he spoke with the police, Mr. Gunn never identified any of the four intruders. (JA at 313). On January 12, 2015, Mr. Gunn was presented with a photo lineup, in which he identified a person named Robert Lee as one of the intruders, but did not identify any of the defendants. (JA at 315-317). In fact, Mr. Gunn actually identified Petitioner's father, Kevin Goodman, Sr., from a photo lineup as being one of the intruders involved. (JA at 35). Mr. Gunn acknowledged that he guessed he was lying to the police when he identified Robert Lee in the photo lineup. (JA at 317). Mr. Gunn denied ever knowing that Kentrell was in his house during the crime. (JA at 321).

In January, 2015, Rashod Wicker was living in his mother's house in Little Mountain, South Carolina. Her name is Benita Goodman Wicker. (JA at 714). Kentrell and Petitioner are his cousins. (JA at 715). On January 8, 2016, Mr. Wicker received a call from Kentrell asking him to drive because Kentrell did not have a license. (JA at 716). Mr. Wicker drove Lindsey Hess's Acura, picked up Kentrell and Petitioner and eventually the other defendants. (JA at 717).

One of the most critical parts of Mr. Wicker's testimony was his statement regarding where the various individuals were seated in the Acura. According to Mr. Wicker, Petitioner was seated directly behind the driver's seat, Kentrell was in the front passenger's seat, and the remaining defendants were seated in the rear beside Petitioner. (JA at 718, 720).

Mr. Wicker testified he understood the purpose of the trip was to pick up some money in West Virginia, but he had not been told there would be a robbery and he had not seen any guns initially. (JA at 719). They arrived in Oak Hill, West Virginia, around 7:30 or 8:00 a.m. (JA at 722). Mr. Wicker claimed he thought Petitioner might be in charge because he was the person who left the car and said, "Let's go." (JA at 723).

Mr. Wicker popped open the trunk and Mr. Gibbs, Mr. Hill, Petitioner, and Kentrell went to the back of the car. (JA at 724). Mr. Wicker has cerebral palsy and was told by Kentrell to stay in the car. (JA at 725). Mr. Wicker saw one long gun, a shotgun, removed from the trunk, but did not see any handguns. (JA at 726-27). After about fifteen minutes, all of the group returned to the car, with Petitioner carrying a safe and he thinks Kentrell was carrying a pair of shoes and a crossbow. (JA at 728). All of these items were put into the trunk and Mr. Wicker was told to go after they got back into the car. (JA at 729).

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