### DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 20-0169



### **KEVIN GOODMAN, JR.,**

Petitioner,

v.

TOM HARLAN, INTERIM SUPERINTENDENT, HUTTONSVILLE CORRECTIONAL CENTER,

Respondent.



### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Fayette County, Case No. 17-C-237

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

GORDON L. MOWEN, II ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12277 Office of the Attorney General 812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor Charleston, WV 25301 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833 Email: Gordon.L.Mowen@wvago.gov

###

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

Identifying a mere mistake by defense counsel is not enough. See, e.g., Edwards v. United States, 256 F.2d 707, 708 (D.C. Cir. 1958) ("Mere improvident strategy, bad tactics, mistake, carelessness or inexperience do not . . . amount to ineffective assistance of counsel, unless taken as a whole the trial was a mockery of justice."). As the Miller court noted, "with [the] luxury of time and the opportunity to focus resources on specific facts of a made record, [habeas counsel] inevitably will identify shortcomings in the performance of prior counsel;" however, merely identifying some mundane mistake does not establish ineffectiveness because "perfection is not the standard for ineffective assistance of counsel." Miller, 194 W. Va. at 17, 459 S.E.2d at 128. Only if an identified error is "so serious that [the defense attorney] was not functioning as the

'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment" has the first prong of the *Strickland/Miller* test been satisfied. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

Assuming that defense counsel's conduct is deemed to have been objectively unreasonable (thereby satisfying the first prong of Strickland/Miller), such conduct does not constitute ineffective assistance unless it can also be established that the conduct was so impactful that there is a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." Syl. Pt. 5, Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. As the Supreme Court explained in *Strickland*, "[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. Thus, satisfying the "prejudice prong" of Strickland/Miller requires a showing that counsel's deficient performance was so serious and detrimental that it "adversely [a]ffected the outcome in a given case[.]" SER Myers, 213 W. Va. at 36, 576 S.E.2d at 281. There is no precise formula that can be used to determine if a given instance of constitutionally-inadequate conduct so significantly degraded the reliability of the trial (or other proceeding) such that the prejudice prong is satisfied. See SER Daniel, 195 W. Va. at 325, 465 S.E.2d at 427 ("Assessments of prejudice are necessarily fact-intensive determinations peculiar to the circumstances of each case."). There is no question, however, that the burden of demonstrating prejudice lies with the petitioner claiming ineffective assistance. State v. Hatfield, 169 W. Va. 191, 209, 286 S.E.2d 402, 413 (1982) ("[T]he burden is on the defendant to prove ineffective assistance"); see also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693; SER Daniel, 195 W. Va. at 319, 465 S.E.2d at 421.

According to Petitioner, his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for the admission of video evidence showing that the driver's side backseat of the "vehicle used in the

18

crime" was empty. (Pet'r's Br. at 22). Petitioner believes this evidence would have established he was not in the car, meaning he did not participate in the crimes. (*See id.*). But Petitioner's argument is predicated upon two facts that he has not established: *first*, the video does not show an empty backseat behind the driver; and, *second*, even if it did show an empty backseat behind the driver, it does not prove what Petitioner claims it proves. Moreover, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the circuit court abused its discretion when it engaged in its fact-finding process and determined that the video evidence did not show what Petitioner claims it showed.

*First*, contrary to Petitioner's claims, the tollbooth video does not clearly show an empty back seat. If nothing else, this is demonstrated by the sheer fact that no one at the omnibus hearing could agree on whether or not the still frame in question (or the video, for that matter) showed an empty back seat. (A.R. at 1151-52, 1158, 1162; *see also* A.R. at 1241 n.47). As trial counsel explained during the habeas hearing, the windows of the car were heavily tinted. (A.R. at 1162). And it is not even clear whether the vehicle in question is even the same Acura as that allegedly driven by Wicker on the day in question. (A.R. at 1161).

Given this dispute, the circuit court meticulously reviewed the subject evidence—it viewed the video frame-by-frame and in normal speed—and, given its own review coupled with the testimony adduced at the omnibus hearing, determined that the video failed to show an empty driver's-side backseat. (A.R. at 1241-42). The court ruled that "the video segment that Petitioner specifically draws attention to does not show what the Petitioner would have this Court believe," and, "[a]t best, the videos are inconclusive as to the occupancy of the subject vehicle." (A.R. at 1241-42). Because of this, the court ruled the video was not exculpatory and, therefore, trial counsel was not deficient for failing to seek its admission at trial. (A.R. at 1241-42). While Petitioner continues to insist otherwise, he has failed to establish any error in the circuit court's ruling and his claim fails on that basis alone.

Indeed, as this Court has observed on many occasions, a circuit court's factual findings in a habeas corpus proceeding is reviewed under a "clearly erroneous" standard. Syl. Pt. 1, *Mathena*, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771. This standard of review is deferential—factual findings will be set aside only where they are "clearly wrong." *Id.* at 421, 633 S.E.2d at 775 (citing *State ex rel. Postelwaite v. Bechtold*, 158 W. Va. 479, 212 S.E.2d 69 (1975)); *see also Phillips v. Fox*, 193 W. Va. 657, 661, 458 S.E.2d 327, 331 (1995) (explaining that a circuit court's factual determinations are afforded deference on appeal); *see generally Warner v. Sirstins*, 838 P.2d 666, 669 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) ("Findings of fact are not disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous, and due regard is given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses . . . . Factual findings are clearly erroneous if they are without adequate evidentiary support or induced by an erroneous view of the law.") (citations omitted). Here, the circuit court's factual determination that the video failed to establish that Petitioner was *not* in the car is fully supported by the record. (*See* A.R. at 1241-42). Because that factual determination is not "clearly wrong" and because it dispositively resolves Petitioner's claims, Petitioner is not entitled to relief.

Second, even if the video showed an empty seat behind the driver, Petitioner still has not carried his burden of proving the circuit court's finding was clearly erroneous. While Petitioner admits in the testimony that "one person can be seen seated in the back of this Acura," (Pet'r's Br. at 27), he nonetheless claims it could not have been Petitioner because he allegedly sat behind the driver's seat. (Pet'r's Br. at 27). That claim misrepresents the record. In fact, specifically regarding the return ride from West Virginia to South Carolina, Kentrell testified that "I got back in the passenger seat, Rashod was still in the driver's seat, and I didn't turn around and see how

*they were sitting in the back seat*." (A.R. at 637) (emphasis added). Kentrell testified further that there were "five [people] in this car, but I just don't remember where everybody was sitting at. But there was three in the back seat" (Petitioner, Hill and Gibbs). (A.R. at 637). Wicker similarly testified that he did not know who was sitting where. (A.R. at 720). The same is true with respect to the drive from South Carolina to West Virginia, both Kentrell and Wicker offered equivocal testimony at trial of who was sitting where. (A.R. at 634, 718).

Thus, Petitioner's representation that the evidence established that Petitioner was definitively sitting behind the driver's seat is disingenuous, at best, and constitutes a gross, if not blatant, mischaracterization of the evidence adduced at trial. The circuit court similarly rejected Petitioner's claim that the trial testimony established he was sitting behind the driver's seat. (A.R. at 1241 & n.47, n.48)—a finding that Petitioner does not even seem to contest in his Brief.<sup>7</sup>

Given that the video is not exculpatory, trial counsel's performance in not attempting to admit the video into evidence was not deficient, meaning Petitioner cannot satisfy even the first prong of the conjunctive *Strickland/Miller* test. His claims otherwise fail.

# B. Counsel's alleged failure to request two instructions did not violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel.

Petitioner contends that his counsel was ineffective for failing to request the trial court give two instructions, the first of which is based upon the following point of law:

Conviction for a crime may be had upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice; but in such case the testimony must be received with caution and the jury should, upon request, be so instructed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Moreover, Petitioner's contention that he "was not in the vehicle used in the crime" misstates the law: not a single one of the crimes for which Petitioner was convicted requires the use of a car. *No* car was used in the crime. (*Contra* Pet'r's Br. at 22) ("Petitioner was not in the vehicle used in the crime").

Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Bolling*, 162 W. Va. 103, 246 S.E.2d 631 (1978) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Humphreys*, 128 W.Va. 370, 36 S.E.2d 469 (1945)).

Petitioner argues that the trial court "would have been required to give" this instruction had counsel requested it be given. (Pet'r's Br. at 31). Syllabus Point 2 of Bolling quite plainly provides that a trial court must give this instruction upon request of the defendant where the State's case is based on the "uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice." Syl. Pt. 2, Bolling, 162 W. Va. 103, 246 S.E.2d 631. Petitioner's argument is legally flawed because the State's case against Petitioner was not based upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice. In fact, it was based upon the corroborated statements of multiple accomplices, one of the victims, and a substantial amount of circumstantial evidence. (See A.R. at 1236-38, 1243). Accordingly, trial counsel could not have been objectively deficient because Petitioner was not entitled to have this instruction given. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Bolling, 162 W. Va. 103, 246 S.E.2d 631; see also Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Vance, 164 W. Va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980) ("Where the testimony of an accomplice is corroborated in material facts which tend to connect the accused with the crime, sufficient to warrant the jury in crediting the truth of the accomplice's testimony, it is not error to refuse a cautionary instruction. This rule applies even though the corroborative evidence falls short of constituting independent evidence which supports the alleged ultimate fact that the accused committed the offense charged."). Below, the circuit court rejected Petitioner's claim on this very basis and this Court should, too. (A.R. at 1243).

For the same reasons, Petitioner suffered no prejudice. He was not entitled to the instruction. Therefore, there is no probability that the outcome would have been different because the instruction would not have been given.

22

Next, Petitioner argues that his counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction, derived from the following point of law:

An accomplice who has entered a plea of guilty to the same crime charged against the defendant may testify as a witness on behalf of the State. However, if the jury learns of the accomplice's guilty plea, then upon the motion of the defendant, the trial court must instruct the jury that the accomplice's plea of guilty cannot be considered as proving the guilt of the defendant, and may only be considered for proper evidentiary purposes such as to impeach trial testimony or to reflect on a witness's credibility. The failure of the trial court, upon request, to give such a limiting jury instruction is reversible error. To the extent that Syllabus Point 3 of *State v. Caudill*, 170 W. Va. 74, 289 S.E.2d 748 (1982) is inconsistent, it is hereby modified.

Syl., State v. Flack, 232 W. Va. 708, 753 S.E.2d 761, 763 (2013).

The circuit court rejected Petitioner's argument on the basis that counsel's performance (not requesting this instruction) was reasonable and that the lack of this instruction did not prejudice Petitioner's case. (A.R. at 1246, 1249). This Court should affirm for either or both of these reasons.

*First*, counsel's performance was not deficient. Counsel, along with two veteran and highly experienced defense attorneys who represented the other two defendants, tried this case. (A.R. at 1246). They met in advance and discussed which instructions they wanted the trial court to give to the jury. (A.R. at 1159). Trial counsel testified that he was aware of the subject instruction, but that he did not request it be given. (A.R. at 1139). Neither did either of the other veteran defense attorneys. (*See* A.R. at 1246). Counsel also testified that he did not want the jury to be over-saturated with instructions and was aware that the jury was instructed on their ability to assess the credibility of each witness. (*See* A.R. at 1246 n.54). Given this confluence of factors, the circuit court rejected the notion that counsel's performance was objectively deficient. (A.R. at 1246).

That was a reasonable decision in light of the testimony from trial counsel and a review of the trial record, and this Court should affirm the court's ruling on that basis. Because *Strickland/Miller* is a conjunctive, two-pronged test, Petitioner's failure to satisfy the first prong is fatal to his claim. Syl. Pt. 5, *State ex rel. Daniel*, 195 W. Va. 314, 465 S.E.2d 416 ("In deciding ineffective of assistance claims, a court need not address both prongs of the conjunctive standard of *Strickland* . . . and *Miller* . . . , but may dispose of such a claim based solely on a petitioner's failure to meet either prong of the test.").

Second, even assuming counsel's performance was objectively deficient, there was no resulting prejudice. The purpose of the *Flack* instruction is to inform the jury that they should assess the witnesses' credibility and that the accomplice's guilt cannot be considered for purposes of proving the defendant's guilt. Syl, *Flack*, 232 W. Va. 708, 753 S.E.2d 761. In fact, the jury was instructed on assessing witness credibility, and the very heart of Petitioner's defense at trial was that Kentrell and Wicker got sweetheart plea deals and were falsely implicating Petitioner in the crime. (*See* A.R. at 1246-49). This theory was advanced by trial counsel during opening, throughout the cross-examination of the witnesses, during Petitioner's own testimony, and was the primary, if not sole, focus of closing arguments. (*See id.*). The jury was expressly informed during trial that Kentrell and Wicker pled guilty, the jury was informed of the terms of those plea agreements, and their credibility was called heavily into question (especially given that they gave multiple conflicting statements to law enforcement). Thus, the jury had this evidence before it and was instructed on its ability to weigh and assess credibility. For these reasons, Petitioner was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to request the *Flack* instruction.

Moreover, in *Flack*, this Court rejected Brandon Flack's claim on appeal that the trial court's failure to give such an instruction was reversible error. *Flack*, 232 W. Va. at 714, 753

24

S.E.2d at 767. There, Flack's accomplice, Jasman Montgomery, pled guilty and testified at Flack's trial, implicating Flack in a murder. On direct appeal, this Court refused to apply the plain error doctrine to review whether the trial court's failure to give such an instruction constituted reversible error (much like here, Flack's counsel did not request such an instruction). Notably, in finding no plain error, this Court observed

We also cannot say that plain error doctrine has been triggered. There was no evidence that the prosecutor sought to infer the defendant's guilt by virtue of Montgomery's guilty plea, nor was there evidence of any aggravating circumstances surrounding Montgomery's testimony.

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